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I. THE PALISADES| DAMEN'S
In 1653 the Lty of New Amsterdam extended from the Battery to a

line just north of Wall Street. Wall Street receivad its name from a
vall, or line of palisades, built in that year under the administra-
tion of Director-General Peter Stuyvesant for protection against the
English colonists of Connecticut and the Indians. The palisades ex-
tended from the North (Hudson) River to the East River at a point
approximately 40 feet north of the present Wall Street. The palisades
consisted of posts approximately 12 fest high and about 7 inches in
diameter. Each post was driven 3 feet into the ground.

Directly to the south of the line of palisades, just 2 or 3 feet
behind and running parallel to it, there was a small ditch used for
drainage. The dirt removed from the ditch was thrown up against the
palisades, thus forming a platform sufficiently high for the guard to
overlook the stockade. To ths south of the ditch extending across the
island vas a strip of vacant land approximately 80 feet in width vari-
ously known as the Parade Ground, Welk, or Cingel. The southern
boundary of this Parade Ground marks the south side of the present
Wall Street.l The palisades and the ditch have been described at scme
length bscause of }thur significance in a firm understanding of land
titles on Wall Street.

The esrliest record of title to lend north of ths present Wall
Street is dated April 25, 1644. At this time, Jan Jansen Damen, a
Dutch landowner, received from Director-General William Rieft a grant
of land extending east from ths North River to the present Pearl Street,
and south from lu&‘dcn Lane to a point approximately 44 feet north of
the present Wall Street. The eastern boundary of this land was ix-
regular, touching as it did s number of small grants.2 The Damen grant,
which later passed to his heirs, wvas confirmed by the English colonial
governor, Richard Ricolls, on October 3, 1667, scon after the English
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captured New mf;arda:.’

In 1685 and 1686 occurred g series of real estate transactions

of great importance to ths history of the area. In sevaral deeds dated
Deceunber 14, 1685 Damen's heixs conveyed their property to Captainm John
Kanight, an agent of the English colonial governor, Thomas Dongan. The
total extent of this property was nearly 1,000 feet in length by 80
feet in depth, from where the present New étrut begins to a point

east of the present William Strest.4 For purposes of this study, we
nesd concern curselves only with the land situated at a point beginning
at New Street and ending just east of the present Sub-Treasury building.
This land adjoined the ditch, and it is for this reason that ths ditch
is of such importance to the understanding of titles to this propsrcty.
The ditch is mentioned in each conveyance of land to John Knight, one
of which reads in part as follows:

Conveys premises on the northeasterly side of the
City of New York, at the easterly side of Town Gate
joining City Fortifications, being in depth from
ditch fest, front by ditch, in rear 77 feet 4-1/2
inches, bounded as follows: Westerly by lend of P.
Stoutenburgh; Northerly by land of I. Kipp; Basterly
by land of L. Tienhoven; Southerly by Wall Street.3

From these deeds we can formulate three conclusions: first, the
ditch fronted on these lots; second, the ditch was used as a boundary
in measuring these lots and therefore was an important landmerk; and
third, ths land was bounded on the south by Wall Strest. It may be of
interest to note that the vacant land lying to the south of Damen's
land and generally referred to as the Parade Ground, Walk, or Cingel,
had also by this time assumed the name of Wall Strsst after ths wall
or palisades which it paralleled.

The Parade Ground, as we have said, was approximately 80 feet in
vidth, varying at different points. It was bounded on ths north by
ths palisades and on the scuth by a row of small houses forming the
southezn building line of the present Wall Strest. Anticipating the
aeventual razing of ths town palisades, Governor Dongan, by a warrant
issued on Decezber 13, 1685 (only one day after Knight had acquired
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title to Damen's land), dirvected Leo Beckwith, a surveyor, to lay dowm
the north side of what was later to become the present Wall Street.
Beckwith had instructions to cut off a considerable portion of the
Parade CGround. th unusual spsed, Beckwith surveyed the otreet, and
on the following day, December 16, 1685, reported his results. The
width of the new Wall Street was laid ocut at 36 fest between New Street
and Pearl Street. Wall Street was msasured from the south side of the
Parade Ground, leaving that side unaffected. The survey cut off ap-
proximately 44 fest from the Parade Ground, narroving the new Wall
Strest essentially to its present width. A depth of about 44 feet of
vacant land running east to west betwsen New Street and Psarl Street
was left fronting the 80-foot lots acquired by John Rnight.®

On February 10, 1685/86,¢ Governor Dongan confirmed the transfer
of title to land conveyed from Damen's heirs to John Knight. On the
same day Dongan conveyed to Knight all that land formerly a part of
the Parade Ground and consisting of approximately 44 feot in width.?

on March 9, 1685/86, in two separate conveyances, John Knight
transferred all his land north of Wall Street to Governor Dongan. In
the first of these conveyances Knight transferred all that land ac-
quired from 's heirs. This land consisted of 908 feet, 7 inches,
in length by 80 feet in depth.83 The second conveyance transferred all
that vacant land, including all land bstween the ditch and/or palisades
and the northern building line of the present Wall Street cut off by
the survey, from Knight to Dongan.? To avoid the possibility that
Damen's heirs might cleim some interest in the vacant land cut off by
the survey, Govermor Dongan, on March 15, 1685/86, obtained from them
a quit-claim deed.l0 :

111. THE DEPEYSTER-BAYARD PRO THE SECORD CITY HALL

wWith Damen's land and that portion of the Parade Ground cut off
by the survey safely in his possession, Governor Dongan proceeded to
sell. Adding that land formerly a part of the Parade Ground to the

“Wntil 1752 the Snslilh year began on March 25. January, February, and
March were the last months of ths year. Thus, anything dated betwsen
Janusry 1 and March 24 was usually recorded as follows: February 10,

1685/86. When the Gregorian calendar was adopted in 1752, the year be-

gan January 1.
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land acquired from Damen's heirs Dongan now had real estate amounting
to approximately 124 feet in depth. On May 25, 1689, Dongan conveyed
all that land north of the uewly surveyed Wall Street betwasn New
Street and William Street (then Quesn Street) to Abraham DePeyster and
Nicholas Bayard,| two leading citizsns. Although the deed to this
property is utimy 25, 1689, for some unknowm reason ﬁ was oot
recorded until February 1, 1724/23, some 36 years later. This con-
veyance is extremsly important, since many titles to land on Wall Street
date back to this deed. It is aleo important, becsuse the deed makes
referance to the laying-out of two new strests north of Wall Strest,
namely, Quesn Strest (now William Strset) and Kip's Strest (now Nassau
Street).

The years IL&S—UOO were & pericd during which Nev York City made
ssveral strides in expansion northward on Manhattan Island. Governor
Dongan, who had presented the city with its firet charter (The Dongan
Charter), had foreseen the expansion of ths city beyond the line of
fortifications, which it was felt had ocutlived their usefulness. In
1688 Dongan £ the line of fortifications in such a state of ruin
that he, as well as sunicipal officiale, may have then entertsined
the idea of demolishing and removing it.12

Toward the end of the 17th Century municipal officials were con-
templating the removal of the old City Hall, which had besn known in
Dutch times as the Stadt Huys and had baen located at the site of the
presant 70 Pearl Street, and the establislment of a one. The old
City Hall was in such decay by 1696 that it was no longer deemed &
safe place for municipal officials to mest. Althcugh the question of
building & new city hall had been broached in 1696, it was mot until
1699 that the foundations of a new municipal building wers laid. Ths
site selected for the structure was at & point on Hall Strest where the
present Nasssu Strest mests Broad.l3 A committes appointed to select
the new site £ that “the Upper end of the bro:d Strest A propper
place for ye M ding A nev Citty Hall . . .

In order to cnc: & new building it was ucdmy to tear dowm
the remaiuning ruins of the fortifications, which ran along a line on
land selected for the new City Hall. To achieve this, the city peti-
tioned Liecutenant Goveranor John Nanfan requesting ths removal of the
fortifications » in addition, requesting that ths stones of the
bastion, which loeaud near to :ho site chosen for the new City
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Ball, be cpptopriL:cd for the construction of ths new buudus.u
|

In their petition to Msnfan the municipal officials referred to
the new City Rall, whose foundation was at about this time (August 1699)
being laid, as "fronting to the aforesaid line of fortifications."16
This statemsnt 1d tend to imply that the City Hall was to stand just
fn front of the fortifications. Actually, this was not the case, be-
cause the City Hall was built im the middle of the present Wall Street
facing Broad Streaet, and the line of fortifications ran somewhat to ths
north or rear of the structurs. If the words of the patitioners were
to be taken literally, it would mean that the fortifications ran some
30 to 40 feet from the southern lius of the Cingel or ths present Wall
Strest. This is difficult to conceive, since it is well known that
the fortificati wers some 80 to 100 feet north of the southern line
of the present Wall Street and that Leo Beckwith, the surveyor, had
marked out Wall Strest in 1683 from the scuth lims at approximately 36
fest. HNeuce, it is impossible to imagine the nsw City Hall as “front-
ing" the fortifications. Siuce the foundation of the City Hall was
just being laid, it may have bsen that the pstiticners were misled io-
to considering the rear as fronting the fortifications snd worded their
petition accordingly.

The new City Hall was not completed until 1704, although there is
cviduﬁ:o that the Common Council occupied the building on October 14,
1703.

In the ntvriof the establistment of the second City Hall, one
of the greatest difficulties has been the lack of records of how the
city legally came into possession of ths land upon which the building
was erected. Other than references to selection and adequacy of the
site, the Minutes of the Common Council are strangely sileat.

1t should be recalled that in 1689 Governor Dongan sold his land,
which was situated betwean New Strest and Willism Strest north of Wall
Strest, to DePeyster and Bsyard. The City Hall was erected partly in
the middle of Wall Strest and NHassau Street and partly on land belonging
to DePeyster and Bayard. The paucity of records has led many writers,
including Mary J. Lamb, Jobn W. Leonard, Framont Rider, and James Grant
Wilson, to conclude that the land was “donated” or "given" to the city
by Abrahan DsPeyster. Uafortunately, none of thase writers cite any
sources for their conclusion, and it is likely that all of ths later
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historians urol.; accepted Mre. Lsub's word.l8 ‘rin “Abgtract of Title"
is fnclined to egres with Lamd, but adds that since the land was jointly
owned, it was probably a gift from both DePeyster and Bayard.l9

Docunents uL:covcnd io recent researchas at the New York City
Manicipal Archives would seem to indicate that the land was not donated,
as the above writers were led to bslieve. 1In & petition dated August 20,
1713 Abraham mﬂgu-: and Ssmuel Bayard, son of Nicholas Bayard, re-
quested the Common Council to appoint a committee to study a claim for
psyment of land which they belisved was occupied by the City Hall. “The
petitioners cited a lav recently passed which called upon the citizeriry
to clarify property ownership and providing that on or after September 1,
1713 persons in session of land for a psricd of 10 ysars wers to be
considered the lawful cwners.20 This petition is mentioned in the
Minutes of the Common Council, and on August 26, 1713, the Council
appointed a committes to "inspect the Title of the Petiticners and to
make diligent search and Boquiry how the City Hall came to be built
upon the seid Ground."2l Nothing more appears in the minutes until
Septenber 29, when ths Council ordered the Recorder to represent the
city at the next meeting of the Supreme Court to answer an “Action of
Ejectment” brought by Abraham DePeyster and Sexuel nnycd.zz Apparently,
the report of the committee appointed by the Council had been unfavor-
able to the petitioners and, ss a result, the latter brought an ection
against the dt’i’

Unfortunately, no mention is made in the mimites of the results
of this case, and a search of the "Minutes of the Supreme Court of
Judicature of the Province of New York" (which sat in City Ball) in
the County Clerk's Office, Hall of Records, have been of little help
in solving this problem. Many of the minutes for this period are
uissing and those which are not, are too illegibls.

The "Abstract of Title" does not mention this claim. Although
0. G. Villard, in his The Early History of Wall Street, cites the
“Bnglish Records," which ware the manuscript collection of the Minutes
of the Common Council, he 1s in ervor when he states that the Recorder
appointed to Tepresent the city “successfully defended” ths suit. A
search of ;:t’n “English Records" gives no indication of the results of
this case. ‘

It o ptob.Lw that some settlement vas mads batween the city and
the petitioners, but whather the court found in favor of ths claimants
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or whether the city wvas able to prove just title to the land camnot
be dstermined, since the records are silent. At any rate, the action f

of ejectment brought against the city seems to prove that the land was i
not donated as Lambd and others have stated. 1

In attempting to find a solution to this question of title, I. N.
Phelps Stokes huLpruenud & most logical and psrsuasive argument.
Stokes says that the sale of the 44-foot strip of land eliminated from
the Cingel with the laying-out of Wall Street was really a private trans-

. action, Since the land belonged to the city, Governor Dongan had no

legal right to acquire fit. Stokes, therefore, concludes that when the
city built the mew City Hall ten years later, it is possible that 1t
did not recognize the validity of any private claim to this strip.2%

The property bought by DePeyster and Bayard in 1689 was held
jointly, or at least such seemed to be the case in 1713 wvhen the action
of ejectnent was brought agaimst the city. In 1718, Abraham DePeyster
and Samuel Bayard divided their property into building lots, each
taking certain onss. This division is recordsd in an "Indenture of
Partition™ dated January 3, 1718/19, to which is attachsd a msp. An

excellent copy of this map (ses Appendix A), but more legible thg the
originsl ome, vas drawn by Frederic DePeyster on April 135, 1823.

There are odvnul oversimplified and insccurate versions of this

map svailable, greatly adding to confusion in the study of the site.

One map, which is included in Lamb's History of ths City of New York,2®

lists the wrong ons on the east and west sides o‘ the City Hall.

Actually, according to the original msp, thess figures zepresent the

depth of the building from a point begiuning on the northwest and morth-

east cornsrs to an imaginary point on ths sides of ths building in line

with the side of Lot #21 and Lot #14 fronting Wall Strest. Moreover,

Lamb's map fails to show certain dimensions feund in ths original. The

sane map sppears in a later work n%gun by Lamb.27 The "Abstract of !

Title" makes use of Lamb's version.“” Although the scurce is not -

given, it {s obviocus that a map found in the Map Division of the New

York Public Library was also copied from Lambd. |
Laxd is not the only writer to have takem certain liberties with

thes DePayster-Bayard map. 1In David 7. Valentine's Manual of The Cor-

poration of the City of New-York for 1860 appears s map containing

several errors and omissions. €ne very glaring discrspsacy is the .
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identification of Kip's Street as "King Street.” Dimensions are also
omitted.29 Frederick Trevor Rill, in his Story of a Street, obviously
has copied from Valentine, since the same mistakes are present.30 A
copy of this map, drawn in 1914 end citing Hill's work, is filed in
the Hall of Records, New York City.3l

Some attempt should be made at this point to evaluate the deed
and original map of 1718/19 and the Frederic DePeyster map of 1823.
Although the deed and map of 1718/19 show the dimensions of Lots #16,
17 and 18 (lots which were ultimately acquired by the city) as being
67 fest in length, the 1825 map fails to indicate this, but the width
of each lot is mentioned, in this case being 25 fest. Both maps fail
to give the complete dimensions of City Hall. The width of the build-
ing is given as 92 feet; however, figures cited on the east side (26
fest, 8 inchss) and west side (28 fest, 3 inches) of the building are
misleading as to depth. Many authors, some of which have been mentioned
above, have taken these figures to mean the depth of the City Hall.
This is not so. The figures represented on the two maps are actually
the depth of that portion of the City Hall which rested on what DePeyster
and Bayard felt their land. A further comparison of the two mape
will show one or two other discrepancies but since they are not con-
cerned with land involved in this base map study there is no need to
pursue the issue further.

The deed of January 3, 1718/19 refers to the land upon which the
City Hall is located and the land surrounding it as being undivided
between the two pht!.u. Both the deed and ths maps cite several
very pertinent dimensions which show the City Rall's position in re-
lation to the gsurrounding land. Some of the more significant measure-
ments indicated on the maps besides the dimensions of lots are cited
herewith: the width of City Hall is given as 92 feet; the depth of that
portion of City Hall on what was believed to be DePeyster’s and Bayard's
land is given as 28 feat, 3 inches on the west side, and 26 fest, 8
inches on the east side; the distance from the corner of Lot #21 to
the west side of City Hall is given as 16 feet; ths distance from Lot
AP to the north side of City Hall is given as 21 feet and from Lot #18
to the north side of City Hall as 21 feet, 4 iunches; the distance from
Lot #14 to the cast side of City Hall is given as 27 feet, 9 inches;
the distance from the southwest corner of City Hall to the south side
of Wall Street is given as 27 fest; finally, the distance from the
southeast side of City Hall to the gsouth side of Wall Street is given
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as 30 fest. Ths dimensions 16 feet, 21 feet, and 27 fest, 9 inches,
represent & narrov strip of land left vacant for an approach to both
Kip's Strest and the rear of City Hall. The effects of this passage
appear to this date in the form of a jog in the building line of the
Bankers Trust Company building on the northwest cornsr of Wall and
Nassau Streets. This passage, which circled the City Hall, vas con-
sistent with the customs of the time when municipal buildings ware
constructed in the center of a broad strest.

v, mggutmnorm’ PROPERTY AND COMV xm_o_é T0 FEDERAL HALL

|

In attempting to show the history of ths acquisition of land,
which eventually culminated in the conversion of City Hall to Federal
Hall, first seat of the PFedersl Govermment, in 1789, extensive use will
be mgde of the DePeyster-Bayard map, psrticularly in identifying lots.
In fact, almost all deeds to property directly related to Fedsral Hall
National Memorial hark back to this map. Therefors, ths map's impor-
tance to a base map study of this site cannot be minimized. Unfortunately,
not all deeds to lots are available, and although the “Abstract of
Title" is a valuable scurce of information, much is left unclarified.
Certainly, ths “Abstract of Title” fails to establish when and how many
titles to lots passed into the posseseion of the city.

There is sufficient proof in dseds that Lots #17 and 18, directly
behind City Hall and fronting Kip's Strest, were sold by Ssmusl Bayard
to Gulian Verplanck on Janmuary 13, 1738.32 There are uo dseds to show
how the title to these two lots passed from Verplanck to the city; how-
ever, there is other quite reliable evidence to show that mot only
Lots #17 and 18, but also Lot #16 and part of Lot #15, were sold to the
city in 1774, 1Ia the Bancker Papers at the New York Public Library was
found a sketch of a survey drawn by Gerard Bancker, a city surveyor,
on April 6, 1772, at the request of Samusl Verplauck, son of Gulian.33
The survey depicts four lots, and although the sketch is brief and
without lot e, it is ocbvicus that the four lots correspond to
Lots #15, 16, 17, and 18 on the DePfiyster-Bayard map. Kip's Strest
is shown on one side of the lots and City Hall on another. Meanwhile,
the measuremsnts of the lots are almost identical with those on the
DePayster-Bayard map. This manuscript would tend to prove that not
only were Lots #17 and 18 in the possession of Verplanck by 1772, but
also Lots #15 and 16.
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A map found kn the Register's Office, Rall of Records, which is
actually a copy of a map entitled “A Plan of the Ground Contigucus to
the City Hall, Made 1 July 1773, by G. Banker [sic],” substantiates
the earlier survey. In this map we find that Lote #13, 16, 17, and 18
were the propsrty of Samuel Verplanck. This copy was drawm in 1914,
The original of Iu map could not be found,34

Wwith Lots #15, 16, 17, and 18 sscurely under his belt, Samuel
Verplanck themn procssded to wschuc Lot #14 from the heirs of Abraham
DePeyster on Pebruary 6, 1773.95 This lot fronted on Wall Strest and
was adjacent to the alley or strest on the east side of City Hall., It
asasured 25 feet in width by 122 feet in dspth. JIacidentally, the deed
to this transaction mentions Lot. #15, which bordersd on Lot #14, as
already in the session of Verplanck at the time he acquired Lot #14,36

With Verplanck's ownership of Lots #14, 13, 16, 17, and 18 fairly
well established, it now remains to show when and how the title to
these lots passed into the hands of the city. To repesat, there are
oo daeds svailable to show this, but the Minutes of the Common Council
and ths Bancker P s help to shed some light on these conveyances.
According to the minutes of May 20, 1773 the Common Council agresd to
pay Samuel Verplanck the sum of 450 pounds for ths purchase of “thres
lots of Ground belonging to him, in the rear of the City Hall.»37 The
actual description of thase lots is not given. In a later entry in the
minutes, February 17, 1774, ve find that Samuel Verplanck turned over
a deed "for the ground he agreed to sell in the rear of the City Hall®
to tha Common Conheu. vhich in turn directed the mayor to iesue a
varrant on the treasurer to pay Verplanck the sum of 357 pwnd;a 9
shillings, U pence, to cover the amount wentioned in the dsed. R

From the above minutes we should conclude three things: (1) the
sum eventually paid to Verplanck for ths lots was greater than ths sum
agreed upon in May 1773; (2) in both entries in the minutes reference
was clearly made to land at the rear of ths City Hall; (3) although
the minutes of May 1773 refer specifically to three lote, the later
misutes refer only to “the ground he [Verplanck] agreed to sell im the
rvear of the City Hall.” with these points in mind we can now procesd
to examine a manuscript found in ths Bancker Papers. Although thie
manuscript is ted, it is entitled “Corporation's Purchase from
Mr. Saml Verp {sic] at the Resr of the City Hall."39 The manuscript
deals with & ey performed by Gerard Bancker of land bslonging to
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Verplanck. Although no lot numbers are wentionsd, the survey describes
i{n soms detail land which is unmistakably that of Lots #16, 17, 18,

and part of Lot #15. A simple sketch, with dimensions, of this property
accompanies ths survey and is shown herein for ease of reference:

A 4

N

Ny ;

) Q! 77

r'i’ ! Q

\' (¥
| S N
: |

| g2/

The 75 feet, 3 iuches, on ths left represents the total width of
the three lots (0&6. 17, 18) fronting Nassau Strest. The 92 fest at
the battom represents the depth of Lot #18 (65 fest) plus the width

(27 feet) of Lot #15. The following description of this plot of ground
in the Bancker manuscript will confirm the conclusion that the land
consisted of Lots #16, 17, 18, aud part of Lot #13:

All that parcel of ground situate in the North Ward
of the City of N. York at the Rear of ths City Hall
beginning in Nassau Strest at the West cornsr of a lot
of ground belonging to Mr. Evert Byvank and [eic) then
South Easterly along the Rear of Mr. Byvank's ground
and along the Rear of ground belonging to William
Miller and others, to ground belonging to ths said

_ Samuel Verplank, 65 fest thence along Mr. V. P.
ground as follows S. Wasterly 32 feet 6 inches
South Easterly 27 fest South Westerly 43 fest 6
inches to s street wiich ssparates the ground hsre-
by granted, from the City Hall, thence Rorth Westerly
along the sdid Strast 52 fest, to Hassau Strest
aforesaid thence North Easterly along Nassau Street
75 fest 3 inches to the place of Beginning.40
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It may be of some interest to poimt out that the manuscript con-
tains a number of mathematical calculations on the side showing an
attempt to astimate the number of square feet of the property. 1In so
doing, the surveyor estimated the number of square feet in the combined
Lots #16, 17, and 18, referring to this plot as "The 3 Lots," and
then estimated the number of square feet in the scuthern half of Lot
#15, referring to this small plot as "The half lot.™

There seems to be no question that the land described in this
manuscript consists of Lots #16, 17, 18, and part of Lot #15. The
title of the manuseript is clear: it suggests the purchase of land
by the city from Verplanck. The manuscript substantiates the Minutes
of the Common Council in that both refer to land at the rear of City
Hall, The differences in the two sets of minutes as to the cost of
the property and the quantity of ground purchased have a logical ex-
planation. It would appear that when Verplanck first suggested that
the city buy his land, he had only intended to sell three lots, namely,
Lots #16, 17, and 18. The price he demanded was 450 pounds. But,
baetween May 1773, when this offer was made, and February 1774, when
payment for the land was finally ordered by the Council, the city
agreed to buy also a little more than half (or the southern portion)
of Lot #15. The hdditional plot of ground accounted for the additional
sum paid in February 1774.

The only reason that might be suggested as to why Verplanck should
sell only a portlpn of Lot #15 to the city is the fact that since he
had stables situated on Lot #15, he preferred to retain a portion of
that lot. Another rough sketch drawn by Gerard Bancker of all lots on
Wall Street, begimning with Lot #15 and ending with Lot #2 near William
Street, notes that Verplanck had stables situated on Lot #15. Although
this sketch contains no date, it was obviously drawn when Lot #15 be-
longed to Verplanck.42

It was not until 1789 that the city purchased the lot "adjoining
the City Hall® from Verplanck in order "to enlarge the space on that
side."™3 1In the minutes of September 24, 1789, the Common Council
ordered the treasurer to pay the balance due Verplanck from the lot
between his houaa and the City Hall "lately purchased of him,"44
Thomas E. V. Sminh in writing about the purchase of a lot by the city
in 1789 situated "on the east side of Federal Hall," states that it
cost the city 434 pounds, 13 shillings, but he cites no authority for
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his information.?5 It is quite probable that the lot purchased at
this time by the city was Lot #14, which according to the DePsyster-
Bayard map measured 23 feet in width by 122 fest im depth. It should

the wording of the Minutes of the Counei 146
it would appear that the word “sdjoining™ applies to Lot #14, since it
wvas the first lot just east of City Hall. As for the remainder, or
northern portion, of Lot #15 one can only speculate that it may have
besen purchased togethsr with lot #14 as one plot of ground.

Without the presence of a desd, evidence of transfer of title to
Lot #14 as well the remainder of Lot #135 ie inconclusive, but we do
kunow that the city was in posssssion of Lot #14 some time before 1812.
In fact, we know that ths city was in possession of all that land
known as Lots #13, 16, 17, and 18 Sefors 1812, and an agresmsnt entered
into by Samuel Verplanck and the city on March 2 of that year msntions
all that land covered by Lots #14, 15, 16, 17, and 18 as being in the
possassion of the ktty. 7 This desd also brings to light the existence
of a right of way from Wall Strest to the rear of Verplenck's propsrty,
evidently & means of getting to and from his stables at the rear. This
right of way was probably granted to Verplanck when Lot #14 was sold
to the city in 1789. The agreemant of 1812 surrendsred this right to
this alley in return for a right of way on Lot #16 at the rear of
Federal Hall. 1n a diagram annexed to the sgresment we can ses that
ths new right of -Py vas a ten-foot wide alley extending from Nassau
Street end running behind Pederal Hall to Verplanck's propsrty.48

The purchase of Lot #14 was in consonance with the conversion of
City Hall to Fedsral Hall in 1789. The City Hall was remodeled by
Major Charles Pierre L°'Enfant 8o that it was slmost an entirely new
building. The width of the building remained ths same but the rear was
evidently extended to some point on lot #16, although this cannot be
definitely established.49 The absence of L'Enfant’s plans to this
structurs makes it difficult, 1if not impossible, to establish the
exact northern extent of the building in the yesars 1789-1790. Con-
temporary maps and accounts of the new structure, however, have pro-
vided sufficient dence to establish with some certainty the position
of the south, wast, and east walls.

Up to thie point in our narrstive we have snalysed title to land

either belonging to City Hall or land adjacent to it at the rear and
east side. Little has been said concerning land adjacent to the build-
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ing on the west side. It should be recalled that the City Hall was
built in the middle of Wall Strest fronting the head of Broad Street,
vith Nassau Street at the resr. A narrow strip of lend, approximately
16 fest wide, connscted Wall Strest to Nassau Street on the west sids
of City Hall. This strip of land was actually an extension of Nassau
Strest. The City Hall, situated as it was, csused a jog in the build-

ing line of that property bounded by Lot #21 and Lot AP on the Depsyster-

Bayard map. When City Hall was converted to Federal Hall in 1789 and
the building was extended to ths rear, it was aleo nscessary to extend
ths narrow strest on the west sides of Federal Hall in order to maintain
its connection with Nassau Strest. Conssquently, ths jog no longer
began at Lot AP, as pointed out in the DePsyster-Bayard msp, but at

Lot #19 on the map. At this point in our story a tale unfolds
which leads to the questioning of ownsrship of that part of Nasssu
Strest which ran ‘alou the vest eide of PFederal Hall.

In 1808 the Pirst Presbyteriam Church presented a petition to the
Common Council claiming that portion of Nassau Strest on the west side
of Federal Hall and that portion of land upon which the wast end of
the building stood. The petiticn stated that "one of the Lots [vis.
Lot AP) & a part of one othsr of the Lots [vis. Lot #20] southeasterly
of Kings Hotel {which was situated on Lot #21] ave in part used as &
Strest and soms part of the Federal Hall stands on a part of ocns of
ths Lots." 1In making this claim ch! church produced in evidence a map
drawn by Adolphus Loss, a surveyor. 1

The Counsel of the Board and Street Coumissicner to whom the
Common Council referred the matter subaitted a lengthy repert which
rejected all claims of the church.32 The report with its map (ses
Appsndix B) is extremely important in a study of the base map plan of
Pederal Hall n.t!.pul Mamorial for several reasons: (1) it reviews
deeds to land claimed by the church, and consequently it describes the
land and how {t is bounded; (2) it zeviews the history of City Hall
and later Federal EHall; (3) the map providas an cutline of ths west
side of Federal Hall and the strest running alongside it; (4) the map
provides, albeit simplified, en cutlins of the rear of Fedsral Hall
vhen it was constructed in 1789.

Since the Loss map could not be located, it could not be said with

any certainty which lots ths petitioners were referring to, but allow-
ing for soms interpolation of the petition and utilising the detailed
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report of the Couisel. it can be fairly well determined that the
petitioners were referring to Lot #20 and Lot AP on the DePeyster-
Bayard map. Accoﬂdins to the Counsel's report the Loss map depicted
Lot AP as extending to Wall Street and fronting on that street, there-
by making it a coﬂner lot. If the Loss map was correct, thean a por-
tion of the west aide of Federal Hall and the agseot running alongside
of it were situated on that lot and on Lot $#20.

The Counsel found that the Loss map was erroneous in depicting
Lot AP as ftontinq on Wall Street and cited extracts from deeds per-
taining to Lot AP. 1In describing this lot, these deeds show that
Lot AP fronted on Nassau Street with its south side bordering on a
street along which ran Lot $21. According to the Counsel's report
the deeds were unmistakable in identifying Lot AP in the foregoing
manner.34 Moreov ¥, as the Counsel's report points out, a deed con-
veying Lot #21 in (1746 showed Nassau Street as running through to Wall
Street as far back as 1718 when these lots were first divided between
DePeyster and Bayard.>5

The COunael'z report went even further to prove that the Loss
map was in error by citing early maps and plans of the city. One
such plan was the Lyne Survey of 1730. Another map was the Maer-
schalck Survey of [1755. FPinally, there was the Bernard Ratzer Map of
1767. These maps, according to the report, clearly distinguish the
street running aIQngside City Hall and the land surrounding it .36

An examination of the Ratzer Map of 1767 and the Maerschalck Map
of 1755 supports the Counsel's conclusion. This map depicts City Hall
in relation to its surroundings. The jog in the building line on the
west side is clearly evident. Other maps in the New York Historical
Society, for e le, the Montressor Map of 1776 and Grim's Map, drawn
from memory, also support the Counsel's position.38

\

The Counsel's report concluded that "no part of Nassau Street,
under any reasonable pretense whatsoever, can be claimed by the
Memorialists to the South of the Southerly line of the lot AP."9 ag
for the claim that the street ran through part of Lot #20 and all of
Lot AP, the Counsel had some rather interesting comments to make;
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It is a queotion yet undecided by the Board whether
compenshtion ought to be made in any case for Streets
voluntarily laid out by the Proprietors of ground,
after they had sold lots and bounded them upon such
streets. And if the Corporation, under these circum-
staneeab should admit the right to compensation in

the present case, although part of the present Street
ed by the exhibited title, it would undoubtedly
the Board to numercus and perplexing applica-

a similar nature, many of which would probably
ed on fairer claims, in point of possession,

e of the present Memorialists; nor would the
ance of this application, coming as it does,
espectable religious Association, be considered
ier to its becoming a troublescme and dan-
ecedent . 60

led that in 1713 title to land upon which the City
stioned by Abraham DePeyster and Samuel Bayard.6l
ndred years later, title to a section of this land

1t should be reca
Rall stood was qu
Now, almost one
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was agsin being questioned. In this latter case, the Counsel concluded
that "no doubt sesms to have existed” in the minds of city officials
“of the right to build [ths City Rall] where it stands® nor "do any
applications to any individuals for ground for that purpose appear to
have been ndo."ﬂ It is interesting to note that nowhere in this
report is veference made to that earlier claim of 1713. §till, the
issus iuvolvad was essentially the same in 1713 as in 1808. The con- .
cluding remarks of the Counsel just quoted might well have applied in
that earlier claim of 1713.

Although the language of the report was clear, the claim was re-
ferred to a committes appointed by the Common Council for further
review. The committes, however, declered itself unqualified and pre-
ferred not to render an opinion on the matter. Instead, it proposed
that three referees be appointed, ons to bes sslected by ths First
Presbyterian Church, a second to be sslected by the Common Council,
and a third, presumably a disinterested party, to bs selected by the
above two. The Committee made this recommsndation on Jums 5, 1809,63
From this point onward the records are silent, and it appears that the

matter was dropped.
v. 1S DEMOLISHED ITS SOLD

It wvas ant ironic that while every effort was being mads to
justify upon legal grounds ths validity of ownsrehip of land upon
which Federal Hall stood, plans were already undserway to build a new
cicy hall. The city had grown so rapidly that Federal Hall on Wsll
Strest was uo longer considered adequate to house the varicus munieci-
pal agencies that had developed. Moreover, the growth in importance
of Wall Street as a financial district made Federal Hall, which ex-
tended into the middle of that strest and almost blocked Nassau Street,
an unwelcome structure im ths area. ' ‘

On August 12!. 1811, ths new City Hall was in such a state of com-
pletion that the Common Coumcil held its first regular mesting there.64
It was not until April 1812, however, that all minicipal agencies were
moved out of Pederal Hall., 1Its last recorded use was in April 1812,
when the mgonko! ths State antuty vers granted permission to use
the building until 1t was 801d.9% I March 1812, it was determined
that the building and ths lots upon which it stood and adjacent to it
should be sold. ter sevaral postponements, the property was sold
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at suction on May 13, 1812,66

Allowing a portion of the site for the widening of Wassau Strest,
the Common Council divided the remaining land into four lots. A map
dated February 1813, drawn by Williem Bridges, a surveyor (ses Appen-
dix C), depiute these four lots as Lots #1, 2, 3, aud 4. Lot #1,
located at the northeast corusr of Wall and Nassau Streets measured
112 fest by 25.6 feet. Lot #2 measured 112 feet by 23 feet. 1lot #3
measured 112 feet by 26.6 fest. Lot #4 measured 112 feet by 27 fest.
To ths rear of these lots was the ten-foot wide alley leading to Ver-

planck's property.

Two other nﬁo. (ses Appendixes D & x) almost fdentical and drawn
by Stephen Ludlam on the occasion of the widening of Nassau Street,
depict these four lots in relation to the surrounding land.68 Thase
two maps are extremely important not only because they depict the four
lots s0ld by the city but because they identify ths cutlines of Federal
Hall, vhose £ tion still remained at the tims these maps were drawa.
Pederal Hall was completely rased by August 10, 1812, end in December
1812, the Strast ssioner was directed to encloss the lots and pave
the street where the building once stood.69

When ths auction was held on May 13, 1812, Lot #1 and the old
Federal Rall building were sold to Josl Post and John B. Lswrence -
the lot for $9,500, the building, soon to bs demolished, for $425.70
The sals of ths ng thrae lots was postponsd until Pebruary 23,
1813, at which tims Lot #2 was sold to Thomas Kirk, James Eastburn and
John Downas.’l Lot #3 was sold to Garrit Storm,’2 and 1ot #% to
Ceorge Griswold. 73 1In the meantime, Lot #1, vhich had originally been
sold to Josl Post snd John B. Lawrance, was sold to Kirk, Esstburn,
and Downss, owners to be of 1ot #2, on January 29, 1813."0

In the conveyance of each of the four lots the nsw owners were
pernitted a right of wvay with Samusl Verplanck to ths ten-foot wide
alley at the rear as indicated in the Bridges and Ludlam maps.

VI.

The cwnexrs of Lots #1 and 2 erected a building on thsir property
in 1814, to be used primarily as a bookstore and resding room.’5 This
building did not remain long in use as a bookstors, however, for two
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years later the United States Govarmment purchased the first section
of land on the present site of Pedsral Hall National Memorisl. This
purchase, which was for the sum of $70,000, included Lots #1 and 2 and
the building thereon. The two lots msasured 31 fest on Wall Strest
by 112 fest in u;::. The right of way at the rear was, of course,
part of the sale.’6 The building was to be used as & Custom House.?7
¥With the expansion of commerce in New York City, the Custom House
vithin & fev years becams entirely insdequate for its purposes. It
wvas then decided To build & such bigger Custom House on the same site.
Ia order to do so, howevar, it was necessary to purchase the two dwell
ings east of the Custom Houss, which were on Lots #3 and 4 of the
Bridges usp, plus the four lots at the rear frontimg Pime Strest.78

On December 10, 1832, Lot #3, which had been sold by Carrit Storm
in 1825, was bou, by the United States Covermmsnt from the Delaware
and Rudsos Canal y for $47,000.79 puring the follewing month,
Jenuary 1833, Lot #4, vhich had passsd into the hands of several owners
since it vas first sold by the city in 1813, was purchased by the
United States from the Directors and Company of the Hational
Bank for $43,000.80 In both thess conveyances the Covermment was en-
titled to a right of way to the ten-foot wide alley at ths rear.

With Lote #1, 2, 3, and 4 in {ite possession, ths United States
Government now owned practically all that lend formsrly occupied by
the old Federal Hall, with the exception of that portion of land on
Wall Strest where part of the building once stood and that lsnd taken

by the eity for the widening of Nassau Strest. It now rimained for
the Government to purchase the feur lots fronting Pine Strest. These
lots were approximately 75 fest in depth by 23 feet in width. These
lots were not land originaily a part of the DsPeyster-Bayard property;
thezefors, there are fow records avdilable to trace the titles. More-
over, ths “Abottqc of Title,” which we must largely resort to in
describing the history of these lots, fails to trace all lines of ocwner-
ship.8l In tracing the ownership of thess lots, it may be well to use
both the Ludlam msp, already mentionsd, and & map drawn by Rdward
Doughty in 1832 (ses Appendix r).82

Prior to the widening of Nassau Strest inm 1813 thers existed a

lot on the sout t corner of Pime and Nasssu Streets (indicated on
the Ludlen map) which was owned at ths time by Thomas Stevenson. This
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lot was approximately 73 fest desp by 22 feet, 6 iuches, wide. Steven-
son cams into possession of this lot in Jamuaery 1800, and at the time,
the lot was described in the desd as boundsd "in the rear by [a] gore
belonging to {the] corporation of Hew York adjoining [the] rear of City
Hall.”83 This "gore" at ths rear of Stevenson's lot was that triangular
piece of land adjoining the rear of City Hall. The gore is clearly
identified on ths Ludlem map. After 1803, when the lot waw transferred,
the "Abstract of Title® is unable to trace the ownership of the lot

into the hands of the city.84 It is safe to say, however, that the
land cams into the possession of the city vhen Hasssu Strest was
widened in 1813. According to the Ludiam map most of this lot, a
quantity of msasuring 73 feet on both the east and west sides
and 22 fest on Pine Strest and 18 feet on the south sids, was apparently
purchased by the city to bs utilised for ths widsning of Nassau Strest.
The remainder of the lot, & very narrow strip measuring 75 feet, 10
fnches, on both the west and east sides, and 10 inches on Pine Street
and 4 feet, 3 iuches, on the eouth side, was sold by ths city to Adam

D. Mount in October 1821.85

The lot just| east of the narrow strip of land purchased by Mount,
vhich is marked 1ler" on ths Ludlan map, presumably after the owner
in 1813, cams into the possession of Adam D. Mount on September 28,
1820.86 Mount then sold this lot and the small narrzow strip of land
to the west of it to Henry W. Warner on October 31, 1821 as two separate
conveyances.87 From this moment onward both parcels of land were con-
siderad as one lot and sold s such. The lot was described in deeds
as land "at the theast corner of Pine and Nassau Strests," and is
shown on the Doughty map as in the possession of a certain Ssymour
who had acquiréd the lot im 1827.88 '

Seymour's lot and the thres lots to the east of it on the Doughty
map, which wers cwned by Issasc L. Kip, Edmund Elmendorf, and George
Griffin, respsctively, were then scquired by Charles Hoyt during ths
period 1831-1832.89 on pecember 7, 1832, the United States Goverrment
scquired sll four lots from Charles Hoyt for the sum of $110,000.
According to the deed this land measured 88 feet, 10 inches, on Pins
Stzest, 75 feet, 10 inches, on Hasssu Straet, 92 feet, 11 inches, at
the rear fromting the alley, end 79 fest, 2 inches, at the casterumost
point of thase lots.90

RmutﬂmcutMMthnmm“watm-
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foot wide parcel ok land adjacent to the easternmost lot purchased
from Hoyt. This ten-foot wide parcel of land, which fronted on Pine
Street, was approximately 75 feet in depth. This land was purchased
from Richard M. Blatchford on December 17, 1833,91

There still remained one more legal transaction to accomplish
before the Custom House could be built., It ehould be recalled that
a ten-foot wide alley in common existed between the Wall Street lots
and Pine Street lots leading to Samuel Verplanck's property on the
east. This right of way was created by an agreement between Verplanck
and the ecity in 1812.92 1n 1822 this right of way was transferred to
the Bank of the United States, which became the owner of the Verplanck
property.93 On August 9, 1834, the Unitaed States Government entered
into an agreementjwich the Bank of the United States whereby the bank
was to abandon its right of way on Nassau Street in exchange for a
right of way on Wall Street., The new alley was locataed on the eastern
part of the ground purchased for the Custom House and was to run along
the side o§4the new building. The alley was ten feet wide and 120
feet deep.

By 1834 the éovernment had acquired title to a rectangular plot
measuring approximately 102 feet on Wall Street, 99 feet on Pine Street,
and 198 feet on both the Nassau Street side and east side (See Appen-
dix G).95 Construction of the Custom Hougse began in 1834 and ended
in 1842 when the building wase complated.96 According to a blueprint
plan of the Sub-Treasury Building prepared in 1912 (cee Appendix H)
the building was approximately 90.3 feet in width on both Wall and

Pine Streets. The length of the building was 192 feet from the edge

of the "pilaster" on Wall Street to the edge of the "pilaster” on Pine
Street, excluding portions of the steps that jutted out beyond these
points.97 Although the blueprint makes reference to the term "pilas-
ter,” it is more likely that the surveyor had intended this to mean
a plinth.98 i

In 1863 the éuatqm House was remodeled to become the Sub-Treasury
and in later years structural changes were made to accommodate various
governmental agencies. With the exception of the erection on the front
steps in 1883 of the J.Q.A. Ward statue of George Washington, these
waere internal cha?ges which did not affect the dimensions of the build-

\

ing. |
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This additional land, unsccounted for in deeds, evantually raised
a question of doubt as to title. Until 1912 no ons, apparently, had
ever quastioned the title to lend absorbed by ths aresway and steps on
Wall Street. In fact, as late as 1913 surveys still used the property
lines delineated by deeds. 1In 1912, however, the Sacretary of the
Treasury requested an opinion of ths Attorney Gensral “to ascertain the
exact limits of the Subtreasury site, whether acquired by purchase or
adverse possession, and to know whether the United States had acquired
title by adverse possession to the portion of Wall Street and Nassau
Strest occupied by the etructures connescted with the Subtreasury."98A
The Attorney Gensral's opinion, mads siz months later, concluded that
thsre was uo record of s purchase of ths land in question, but main-
tained that whet the United States had obtained the land by conveyance
or by advarse possession, it had “goed title® to it. To support his
opinicn hs cited a mumber of precedeuts whereby lamd held advarsely
renainsd in possession of the occupant after a protracted period of
time no action was brought against him, Thus, the Attorney Gensral's
opinion was unquﬁoul in supporting the belief that even if the land
which was occupied by the sresvay and by the steps were adversely
possessed (as he seems to hint was the case), the Fedsral Government
had, usvertheless, acquired good title to the lamd,

Soon after this opinion was rendered, a revissd plat of the Sub-
Treasury propsrty appeared in May 1914. This plat fized the property
line on Nasssu Strest on a line with the cuter wall of the areaway,
and on Wall Strest on a line with the bo;ggn step. In all other respects
property lines conformed with the deeds. In 1939 the Sscretary of
the Interior declared ths Sub-Treasury Building a National Historic
Site, describing the land with reference to ths 1914 plat,98D:

In 1954, the ‘my was eliminated in responss to & Tequest from
the City of New York which sought to widen ths sidewalk on Naseau strest.98E
There was no transfer of propsrty in this action; ths Ratiomal Park
Service merely gave the city authority to elimimate ths areaway but re-
tained rights to ﬁh land. The areavay was approximately 5 feet

wide, extending ﬂ* full length of the building, and the Pedsral Govern-
ment retained ti.tl,o to that portion of the sidswalk resulting from

this changs.

Another action occurred in 1953, which, if it did not make any
changes on the structure itself, had some effect on propsrty limes.
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In en exchange of property, ths Federal Government conveyed the passage-
way on the east side of the Sub-Treasury Building and the Old Assay
office eite just to the east of the passageway to the Seamen's Bank for
Savings in return for property situsted im the Borough of Brooklyn.

The deed, which was dated April 15, 1953, refers to the passagevay as
being 8 feet wide., The original passagevay, particularly towards the
Wall Strest side, was somswhat wider than this, but the Assay Office,
as & Government building, had been permitted to project somsvhat into
1t, so that the passagewvay was narrowed to spproximately 8 fest. As
ons of the conditions affecting this exchange, the deed created an
essement which gave the United States, and specifically the National
Park Service, the right of access to the passageway.98C

With the exception of the passageway, vhich is now cwned by the
Seanmsn's Bank for Savings, today the property line of the Sub-TIreasury
Building consiste of that property delineated in ths plat of 1914 gnd
described in the order designating Federal Hall National Memorial,?SH

VII. THE BASE MAP

In draving the base map of Federal Hall National Memorial, resort
has bsen made to several property maps, most of which have already been
mentioned. These maps may be listed as follows:

1. The DePeyster-Bayard Map of 1718 {(Appendix A). This map shows
dimensions of City Hall, streets, and lots. It is drawn to scale: 20
fest to an inch. !

2. Map apperided to the Strest Coumissionsr'’s Report of 1808 (Appen-
dix B). This wap shows the dimensions of a section of City Hall and
Federal Hall., It {s drawmn to scale; approximately 25 fest to an inch.

3. The Stephen Ludlam Maps of January 7 and Jenuary 9, 1813
(Appendix D & E). These maps show almost the complete dimensions of
Federal Hall, surrounding strests, and lots. The two maps are almost
identical, varying only in soms fev respscts. They are drawn to scale:
approximately 20 feet to an inch,

4. The William Bridges Map of Pebruary 1813 (Appendix C). This
map shows the dimensions of lots and strests. It compsres very favor-
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ably with the Ludlam maps as a source of information. It is drawn ‘to
scale: 20 feet to an inch. g

S. The Joseph F. Bridges Map of July 19, 1836. (Appendix G).
This map gives the dimensions of the property acquired for the con-
struction of the Custom House. It {s drawn to scale: approximately
20 fest to an inch.

6. The Charles W. Mapes blueprint of September 1912 (Appendix RH),
which shows in considerable detail dimensions of the Custom House -
Sub-Treasury Building. It is drawn to scale: 10 feet to an inch.

In addition to these, other maps have been used, as cited in foot-
notes. Hovever, it should be said that the Ludlam maps, because of the
anount of datail contained therein, including the shape and sifie of
Pederal Hall and dimensions of lots and streets, have been used. exten-
sively as a basis for the draving of the base map.

As the base map will show, the three major structures memorialized
on this site did not occupy the same exact location, but they did over-
lap to a large extent. :

The shape, size, and position of City Hall can be fairly well de-
termined from the ¢vidence that is available. The DsPeyster-Bayard
map depicts City Hall as being oblong in shape with wings at both the
east and west ends in the form of an "H". The center of ths structure
was therefore narrowsr in depth than the ends. A drawing, from msmory,
of City Hall in 1745 by David Grim is the only record we have that de-
picts the exterior before 1763 when a third story was added. This draw-

ing gives a front viev of the building and identifies the wings projecting

at both ends.99 This drawing also contains a floor plen of the build-
ing clearly showing the wings.l00

David Grim has left us & map of New York City, depicting (albeit
on s very small scale) City Hsll as an oblong, wing-shaped structure.l0l
This map was also drawn from memory. There are ssveral other maps in
existence, psrhaps even more relisble than the Grim map simce they were
not drawn from memory, which show the characteristic “H" shaps of the

City Ha11.102 A mamuscript found im the Bancker Papers also corroborates

the above evidence. This manuscript, which is a plan of Wall Street
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in 1774, gives no dimensicns of the building, since it was primarily
concerned with the ownership of property.l0) william Smith, writing

in 1756, describes City Hall as being “in the shape of an oblong, winged
with one at each end, at right angles with the first. 104

Like its » , City Rall's dimensions can also be fairly well
determined from the wealth of data that is available. The DePeyster-

‘Bayard map, which fs ths earliest property map of Wall Strest drawn

after City Hall ix erescted, depicts the structure as being 92 feet
long. Although the width is not given, it can be determined because

the map is drawn to scale. Thus, we can safely say that the building
vas apprczhlnlw SO feet wide at each end wvhere the wings stood. David
Grim in his floor plan, which is drawn to scale -~ 16 feet to an inch --
supports the DéPeyster-Bayard map.103 There is additional evidence in
ths form of a copy of a map drawn by Gerard Bancker in 1773 which, in
gensral, slso agrees with these dimensions. Since this map is drawn

to scale ~- 20 feet to an inch -- we can c&mn the size of the build-
ing as being approximately 90 by 50 feet.l

It is Temarkable how these sarlier descriptions of City Hall, bdfore
the building was converted to Federal Hall in 1789, fit a description
given in 1808. The Strest Commissioner’s map of 1808, which was used -
as the basis for rejecting the claim of ths First Presbyterian Church,
specifically states that the width of City Hall was 32 fest, 8 inchses,
and to support ths validity of this claim, the report states that the
sddition to the building in 1789, is “plainly visible and easily dis-'
tinguished from the East and West walle of the old work,"107

There is no indication in the Minutes of the Common Council that
the City Hall was materielly changed to affect its length and width be-
twasn the tims when {t was completed in 1703 and the time when it was
converted into Federal Hall. Although a third story was added ia 1763,
it did not affect the building's length end width.

In sddition to the shape and sise of City Hall, the DePeyster-
Bayard map gives us soms valuable imformation as to the relative position
of the structurs with surrounding strasts. Thus, ths west wall of the
building is fixed at 16 fest from the nearest lot on that side. The
scuthwest corner of the building was set at 27 feet from the building
line on the south side of Wall Street, and the southeast corner of the
building at 30 t#t from ths building line across from it. MNeanwhile,
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the east wall of City Hall was fixed at 27 feet, 9 inches, from the
nearest lot on that side,

The measurements noted in the DePeyster-Bayard map are remarkably
sinilar to those in the Ludlam maps of 1813. These maps show the west
vall to be a distence of 16.4 fest from ths nearest lot on that eide,
The distances from the Southwest and southeast corners of the building
to the opposite side of Wall Strest wers set at 27.6 and 33 feet,

respectively.

The construction of Federal Hall in 1789 was actually an enlarge-
ment of City Hall. Federal Hall was created by alterations and additions
to the old structurs. The Wall Street or south side of the new build-
ing resembled the old ons in plan, except that an ornsmental gallery
now f£illed the space betwesn the wings. Without the L'Enfant plans
we cannot say just| how the building really looked from the cutside in
the brief interval| of 1789-1790; however, there is sufficient evidence
available to provide us with a fair description of ite dimensions in
later years, at least until it was demolished in 1812.

Perhaps the earliest evidsnce we have of ths manner in which the
City Hall was extendsd is an engraving by Cornelius Tiebout. This
viev of Wall Strest looking towards Trinity Church shows almost the
complete east side of Federal Hall. Wings are clesrly discernible at
the rear. The engrsving is in such great detail that one camnot help
but observe a ssmi-octagonal shape at the rear of ons of these wings.108
Stokes believes that the drawing was made eithsr between 1789 and 1793
or betwesn 1796 and 1799, since Tiebout's nams was continucusly seen
in Mew York directories. During 1793 and 1796 he was in london, Siunce
“Ccity" and not "Federal® Hall was used as a title to his work, Stokss
believes that the view must have been made after December 6, 1790 when
the PFederal moved to Philadelphia.109

There is a side view 6f Federal Hall in the yesar 1798, an original
watercolor painting, which was drawn by Archibald Robsrtson, but, since
the rear is blocked off by tress, this painting only gives the extended
portion of the main body of the building without a view of the rear
wings. Hence, this painting is nbt too important for this study.!iO

There are two maps of New York City, ths Gosrck-Mangin Plan of 1799
and the William Bridges Map of 1811, both prepared when Pedersl Hall vas

May 1962




‘ Volume 11X, Section D
Natural History and
Historical Background
- Page 29

still in cxut.cul. Although ¥oth maps ave drawn to & very small ecale,
they plainly show wings protruding from the rear of the building.lil

The most conclusive evidence we have concerning the shaps and sisze
of Federal Hall is the Ludlan maps of 1813. In his maps Ludlam included
the cutlines of Fedsrsal Hall. These maps were drawn after Federal Hsll
was demolished, but ths lots upon which ths building once stood were
still clesrly discernible, since the Common Council had & feuce built
eround them.112 As o strest surveyor, it is true he was princilally
concernsd with the videning of Nassau Street, but his dimensions’ of
the ground upon which Fedsral Hall once stood are so much iw detall
aud compare so favorably with other maps that we should accept them as
a basis for pre ng & base map. The maps show the wings at the rear
of the building ‘ the splayed end of the octagonal wing, which Stokes
and Haskell believe was that part of the building known as the Hall
of Representatives,ll)

Thars is other evidence to support ths Ludlam maps. Morsover,
this additional evidence also tends to support ths belief that Pederal
Rall remained es ially the same in {ts ocutward eppesrance during
the 12 ysars before it wvas rased. The Tiebout engraving, which is pur-
ported to have been dons either betwssn 1789 and 1793 or betwsen 1796
and 1799, is a good source, since it depicts the wings and semi-
octagonal shape at the north end of the building. The Goarck-Mangin
Plan and Bridges Map also revesl the existence of wings im ths years
1799 and 1811. A deed dated Janmuary 31, 1800 describes a lot situated
at the cornsr of Pine and Nassau Strests as being bounded “soutiwesterly
in rear by gore belonging to corporation of New York adjoining rear of
City Hall."114 4 glence at the Ludlam mape will clesrly identify thie
gore, which was formed by the semi-cctagonal shape of the wing at the
rear.

_Parhaps the t convincing evidence to support the Ludlan maps
is ths map to ths Street Commissioner's Report of 1808. This
map shows that part of the building added to City Hall when it was con-
verted to Federal Rall. What is extremely significant in the absence
of L'Enfant’s plans s that the map specifically states that both the
addition to the main body of the building and the semi-octagonal wing
vere constructed in 1789. It is also interesting to observe that the
dimensions cited ia this map are almost identical to those in the Lud-
lan maps. The in which the Strest Commissionsr's Report is
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worded leads one to the conclusion that its authors were convinced of
ths validity of their fiundings.

After evaluating all the evidence that has been accumulated, and
1f we assums that Tiebout did his engraving as late as 1799, we should
conclude that the size and shape of Fedsral Hall was essentially the
same in 1799 as it was in 1812 just before the Ludlam maps appeared.
Without the L'Enfant plans, however, ons can only say that in all
probability Federal Rall was essentially the seme in 1789 es when lud-
lam depicted it in 1812. '

wWillien Hindley, who in the 1930's had accomplished a considerable
emount of research on ths sppearance of Federal Hall in 1789, has main-
tainsd that the wings were not a part of the L°Enfant plans, and,
although not danying their existence, has concluded that they were built
after the Pederal Government left Hew York.l13 Hiudley, whose back-
ground was essentially in architecture, was no historian, and he gave
no cteferences to sources of information. His desp adnivation for
L'Enfant led him to a number of doubtful conclusions. Hemce, he has
implied that L'Enfant could not possibly have included the wings in
s plens, bccm}o they were not the kind of architecture that one
would associate vith him. In referring to the wings Rindley says,
uthese ware additions after the governmment had left [New York] as we
have no mention of their existence.” He states at the top of one of
his drawings thnt‘ “"the rear building [wings] . . . is never mentioned
by auny observers [therefore] it was not & part of Federal Hall.” Such
uncorroborated asserticns fail to take into considerstion that although
there are several contemporary descriptions of the interual appearance
of the building, there are, to this writer's knowledge, no contemporary
accounts which describe Federal Hall's total external appearance in
1789. This, however, does not excluds the possibility that the wings
may have existed in that year. Again, Rindley adds in the esme draw-
iog, "It must alvays be remeubered that there was culy a certain amount
of monsy to be had, even if it stretched somewhat -- go that semi-
octagonal building at ths Ro¥th could not have besn included in the
original lsyout." This is & non-sequitur and need not delay us.

Hindley was careless in the use of his scurce material. While
using the Ludlam map of Jamuary 9, 1813 (Appendix B), he mistook the

width of the ﬁlﬁ wall of ths main gection of Federal Hall to be 104
fest. Actually, according to the map it should have been 81.6 fest.
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This figure is largely supported by the Strest Comaissioner’s map of
1808, which, if one adds ths width of the old City Hall to the width
of the extendsd portion of the west wall, arrives at the figure 83.4
fest. This ﬂsurﬁ {s much closer to 81.6 fest than Hindley's figure.

There may be an explanation for Hindley's mistake. Due to the
worn condition m& 11legibility of the Ludlam map of January 9, 1813,
there are certain figures cited which might be confusing. Although
the map cites the figure 81.6 fest immediately to the left and on the
14ne of the west wall, it alio cites the figure 104 fest above this
point and a little off to the left of the west wall., If we extend the
building line on Wall Street so that it mests & 1ine drawn from the
corner of the jog on Nasssu Street, the distance from the point at
which they meet to the corner of the jog will msasure approximately
104 fest. 1Im citing this figure it is probable that lLudlam was making
various calculations for the widening of Nasssu Street. Imn any évent,
81.6 feet appears to be the more accurate figure, and Hindley was,
therefore, in error. )

An exanmination of the Minutes of the Common Council to determime
whether Federal Rall had undergone further changes in its exterior
after 1790 proved to be in vain. Although the minutes refer to & con-
sideradble amount of vepair work and, indeed, scme major internal re-
modsling done to the building, there is mo indication that the exterior
had undergone any major change that would lead oms to believe that the

vings were added after 1790 as Hindley believed. 116

Ludlam has provided us with several messurements of Pederal Hsll.
Unfortunately, he has not left us with a complete msasurement of the
rear vings and east wall. Ths east wall of the building was equal to
the west wall on the Ludlam maps. Since we know the length of the west
vall, we can say that the east wall was approximately 81.6 feet. In
the absence of figures in both Ludlam maps, ths dimensions of the wings
can only be estimated according to scale. The width of Federal Hall,
according to the ludlam maps, was 94.5 feet. 1f the sexi-octagonsl

wving of Fedeilal Hall is correctly placed in the lodlan maps, then we '

can estimate that the building was approximately 145 fest in depth.

In concluding this study a few words should be said cm&ning
the relationship of Federal Hall to ths Custom House - Sub=-Treasury
building. Accodlng to the Ludlem maps, the distance from the south-

|
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west cornsr of the westernmost lot on Wall Street to the west wall of
Federal Hall, measured on & building line, was 45.8 fest. (The Bridges
wap of 1813 refers to this lot as Lot #1.) This is the same as saying
that the distance between ths southwest cormer of the Custom House to
the west wall of Pederal Hall was 45.8 fest, since, according to the
Mapes map of 1912, the Custom House and Lot #1 coincided at this point.

Ludlam slso indicates the extent to which the southeast corner
of Federal Hall projected into Wall Street from the property lins that
was created with the sale of the four lots on that strest. This pro-
trusion can be estimsted to be 23.9 feet. Since the frlint of the Custom
House on Wall Strest was not built to coincids with this property line
but was built approximately 4 fest behind it, 117 calculated at the
center, it can be said that the southsast cornsr of Federal Hall was
approximately 28 fest from the Custom House, at a point in front of
the center of the base of the Ceorge Washington Statue.ll

The site now occupied by Pederal Hall National Memorial has a long
and interesting history, with significant associations reaching far
back into the Colonial period and continuing into ths vecént past.
Three important public buildings have occcupied this site: (1) City
Ball (1699-1788); (2) Pederal Hall (1789-1812); and (3) Custom House-
Sub-Treasury (1842-present). The mumerous historic events associated
with these buildings, particularly those which are related to ths
Pederal Hall period, make this one of the cutstanding sites in Amsrican
Ristory. ‘

The City Hall was the home of ths Common Council of the City Of
New York, Colonial Assembly, State Legislature, and sundry courts,
chief among them ng the Supreme Court of Judicature. During the
period 1785-1788 it was slso the last meeting place of the Continental
Congress. Some of the more significant historical events associated
with this buflding were the trial of John Pater Zenger im 1733, the
mseting of the Stamp Act Congress in 1765, and the passing of the Land
ordinances of 1785 and 1787.

In 1788-89 City Hall was converted to Federal Hall in order to
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receive ths FPederal Government about to be established under ths Con-
stitution. Here George Washington was insugurated in 1789, and the
Congress met for ths firet time. Here, also, ware created ths basic
departmsnts of the administration and the positions of Secretary of

ths Treasury, Sscretary of State, Secretary of War, and Attorusy General.
An act establishing a fedaral judiciary system was also passed and the
Bill of Rights adopted during the brief period of eightesn months
before the Federal Government moved to Philadelphia.

The primary objective of a bass map study of Federal Hall National
Memorial is to develop ths history of land ocwnership of this site and
to indicate the relative positions of ths three major structures to
each other. The construction history of thess buildings, particularly
of the present building for restoration purposes, must wait for future
studies.

Manuscript sources for this study have largely coms from ths pub-
1ic depositories in New York City, including the NMunicipsl Archives
and the New York Public Library, as well as the New-York Ristorical
Society. The sujc Archives in Albany, New York, also contain some
manuscript material in the form of deeds. :

The public records of New York City are to be found in the Mmici-
pal Archives and Record Center (Rhinelandsr Building), Municipal Building
and Hall of Records. The Municipal Archives contain & weslth of manu-
script materisl dealing with esarly local history. Unfortunstely, litfle
attexpt has been in the past to catalog this material and such o
1t remains in a confused state. Thsre are some encouraging sigas, how-
ever, for only recently a professional archivist was hirved by the City
to begin the slow and tedious task of organizing and cataloging this
great body of data. : '

Both the Municipal Building and the Hall of Records have neverths-
less produced rous very pertinent maps of this historic eite. Mean-
while, the New York Public Library contains the very valusble Bancker
Papers, a collection of early surveys of this site. Finally, the New-
York Historical Society produced, among other documents, the very
valuable DePeyster-Bayard Map of Wall Strest.

It is unfortunate that ths L'Enfent plens for Federal Hsll could
not be located for this study. These plans should establish the exact
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shape and location of that structure during the period 1789-1790. It
may be that these plans still exist, perhaps in one of the sunicipal
depositories of New York City. To have ressarched all the depositories
in their ptcmt?eond&tton would have bsen a monumsntal task for one
person; howsver, the municipal archivist has been slerted and the
search for these plans will continue. Museum development on the site
relating to the period of Federal Hall depends to a great extemt upon
these plans. Since it was known that Mr. Littleton had searched the
Library of Congress for the L'Eufant plans, no attempt was made to re-
trace theee steps. :

In order to trace ths history of titles to lots, considerable
reliance was placed upon the "Abstract of Title" prepared by the Title
Guarentes and Trust Company.ll? Although some attempt was made to
research the deeds in the Hall of Records, it was felt that there
would be much duplication of effort if all deeds were studied. Simi-
larly, it vas not felt expsdient to research deeds to early Dutch
grants filed in qlbany. Although the weaknesses of the "Abstract of
Title" are well recognized, as this study will point ocut, the Title
Guarantee and Trust Company has accomplished such an exhaustive study
of land titles that it is a basic source for any further research.

Footnote citations to deeds will indicate whether the deeds are
filed in New York\ City or Albany.
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FOOTROTES

1. Edward Hagaban Hall, "The First Presbyterian Church of Kew York,"

Twenty Second Report of the American Scenic and Historic Preser-
vation Society (J. B. Lyon, Printers, , 1917) 593 (Hereafter

cited as Hall); Berthold Fernow, ed., The Records of New Amsterdam
from 1633 to 1674 A.D. (The Enickerbocker Press, New York, 1897), I,
e, 69, 72, %0. '

2. 1liber GG of Grants (Albany), p. 91, cited in "Abstract,” 3; Murray
Hoffman, A Treatise Upon the Estate and Rights of the Corporation of
the City of New York, as Proprietors (McS & Baker, nn!E York, 1853),
1T, 214, 320; Hall, 593,

3. Liber of Patents {Albany) II, p. 110, cited in I. N. Phslps Stokes,
Iconography of Manhattan Island, 1498-1909 (Robsrt H. Dodd, New York,
1928), VI, 86 (Hereafter cited as Stokes, Iconography); also cited in
“Abstract,” 3.

4. Por the aMinto relationship of that property with ths property
existing today ur Disgrem #2 of “Abstract," 6.

|
5. Liber of (N.Y.C.) 13, p. 144, cited in "Abstract,” 8; for a
recital of these deeds see "Abstract,” 9-10.

6. E. B. 0'Callaghan, ed., The Documentary History of the State of New
York (Weed, Pauﬁ- & Co., Albany, 1851), '—iz?:. « 1In 1720 Wall
Street was widened to about 41 fest between City Hall and Broadway.
See Minutes of The Common Council of The City of New York 1673-1776

. and Company, New York, 1903), 111, 241 (Hereafter cited as

Mioutes 1675-1776).

7. Liber of Patents {(Albany) Vv, pp. 293-97, cited in Stokes, Iconography
IV, 333, and in Hall, 604-7. ' ' '

8. 1iber of Desds (N.Y.C.) 18, p. 64, cited by “Abstract,” 11; Rall
says that he learned from the Title Guarantee and Trust Col, authors
of ths "Abstract,” that this conveyance was recorded in Libar of Deeds
18, p. 64, which was in the Hall of Records, New York City, but has
since disappsared., See Hall, 607. Since the "Abstract,” which cites
the deed, was prepared arcund 1900 and Hall's work was written in 1917,
it may bs that the deed was lost within that space of 17 yeats.
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9. Liber of Dudq (Albany) 9, p. 387 et. %.. cited in Hall, 607-11;
Stokes mentions ﬂ? transfer of both properties as though it were one
o8

only Liber of Desds 18, pp. 64-71 for his suthority.

makes reference only to the transfer of ths lots acquired from Damen's

conveyance and cit
Ses Stokes, I_e%mz. IV, 335-6; in citing this deed the "Abstract”
heirs. See “Abstract,” 1l.

10. Liber of mq. (Albany) 9, p. 64, cited in Hall, 611-13 and by
Stokes, lconography, IV, 333-6.

11. Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 31, p. 23 at. seq., cited in “"Abstract,”
17 and in Hall, 614-16; Hall has drawn an excellent map of the arsa
between Broadway and Nassau Strest indicating the property changes up
to this period. See Ibid., Plate 4.

1:&3 Martha J. Lamb, Wall Strest in History (Funk & Wagnalls, New York,
1883), 23.

13. mwt.l 1675“776. I. 403; lu‘.. II. “. “. 77‘8. 82. “. 92.
“. 95:6. ;5

14. Minutes ms{me. 11, 68.
15. 1Ibid., 82.
16. 1Ibid. |

17. xb“o. 2‘00; st'k“. M “. .

18. Martha J. Lamb, History of the City of New York: 1Its o:%ln. Rise
3

& Progress (A. S. Barnes & Co., New York, 1877), I, 400, &4 :
» Wall Strest In History, 24; John W. Lesocnard, History of the City

of New York 1609-1909 (The Journal of Commerce and Commercial Bulletin, '
New York, 1910), 159-160; Fremont Rider, ed., Rider's York cuz. A

Guide Book for Travelers (The Macmillan Co., New York,

James Grant wilson, ed., The Memorial Hist of the City of ot ncv-!ork.
From Its First Settlement to to the Year 1892 w-York History Company,
New York, 1893), 1I, 42.

19. “Abstract,” 21.

20. MS., Petition of Abraham DePeyster and Ssmuel Bayard, "Original -
Documents nchtln% to New York City re: Accounts, Petitions, and Pro-
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ceedings,” File 11;13-!1-1-? (T1208), Mmicipal Archives, Rhinslander
m‘a“. N.Y.C.

21. Mioutes 1675-1776, 1I1, 42.
22. !b“. Py “o |

|
|

23. 0. G. Villard, The Ear of Wall Strast, 1633-1769 (Volume
!ofrhoﬂlltlbonm ﬁ%mw.cwmmn.n).ic.r.
Putnan's Sons, New York, 1897). 117; “English Records,” III, 269, 272,
Municipal Archives, Rhinelander Building, K.Y.C. .

24, Stokes, Lc_om. I, 239.

25. NS., "Indenture of Partition with Survey & Map Annsxed, Dated 3
Jan. 1718, Col. Abraham DePsyster and Samuel Bayard, NMarchant,” filed
in Miscellansous DePeyster Papers, New York Ristorical Society; The
Frederic DePeyster map of 1823 1is also filed with the Miscellaneous
DePeyster Papers.

26. Lamb, m.zﬂggmctqg_gn_gnru. e« 1,808,

27. Lamb, Wall Strest In History, 28.
28. 1n copying from Lamb, the "Abstract,” p. 19, gave it the wrong date.

29. David T. Valentine, Manusl of The Corporatiocn of the City of Rew-
York for 1860 (Chas. W. Baker, New Yori. T880). $32—

30, Frederick Trevor Hill, The Story of a Strest (Harper & Bros., New
York, 1908), opposite p. 30.

31. MS., “partition mp of Abraham DePsyster and Samuel Bayard, Janu-
ary 3, 1718, fra hs History o! a Street, by Frederick Trevor Hill,"
File #R399, Room , Register's Office, Hall of Records, N.Y.C.

32. This desed was not recordsd until August 13, 1751. See Liber of
Beeds (N.Y.C.) 33, p. 427, cited in “Abstract,” 23.

33. MS., "Por el Verplank Back of the City Hall on the N.E. side
of Wall: formerly Kip's Strest, Plan of four Lots of Ground in the
North Ward of the City of N. York. Survey this 6 April 1772 at the
Request of Mr. S. Verplank. Signed G. B., C. §.," filed in Folder 60,
Bancker Papers, New York Public Library.
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34. A traced copy of this map is in the files of Federal Hall National
Memorial. |

35. Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 40, p. 417, cited in “Abstract,” 31.
36. Ibid. |

37. Mioutes, 1675-1776, VII, 420,

38. Ibid., viIz, 7.

39. In Folder 60, Box G-N, Bancker Papers, Hew York Public Library.
40. Ibid, \

41. Ibid.

42, Ms., "H.U. side of Uall & Massau Strests," filed in Folder 118,
Box V-W, Bancker Papers, Nev York Public Library.

43. [City of New York) %muu of the Common Council of The City of
New York 1784-1831 (The City of New York, Kew York, 1917), I,
ter cited as Minutes 1784-1831).

44. 1Ibid., 486.

43. Thomes E. V. Smith, The City of New York in the Year of Washington's
Insuguration, 1789 (ln:lo'ﬁi & Co., Nev York, 1889), 432.

46. Mioutes 1784-1831, I, 437.

47. Minutes 1784-1831, VII, 68; Liber of Deeds (n.Y.Cc.) 97, p. 130,
cited &n "Abstracy,” 35.

48. 1bid.
49. Minutes 1784-1831, I, 398-9, 404, 420, 432; Stokes Iconography, V,

1231-32, 1233, 1235, 1238; Sidney I. Pomsrants, New York, an American

City, 1783-1803: A Study of Urban lLife (Columbia University Press
Now Tork, 1H50), ZRoeg L o Eben Life :

50. 1Iufra., pp. 42-48.
31. M3., "Memorial of Corporation of the Presbyterian Church, August 8,




e T T — ~

! Volumse III, Section D

' Natural History and
Hietorical Background
Page 39

1808," in metal file #38, Municipsl Archives, Rhinelander Building,
N.Y.C. Loss' map was not among the papers in this file; Minutes 1784-

1831, v, 224.

S2. MS., "Report of the Counsel & Strest Commissioner on Claim of

byterian Church to certain property on west sids of Nassau Street,
:::;nbor 14, 1808,° with map appended, in wetal file #38, Municipal
Archives, Rhinelander Building, N.Y.C. (Hereafter cited as Strest
Comxissioner's Report); The report without the map appears in Minutes
1784-1831, v, 32 14-31.

33. Ibid.

i

54. Ibid.; Hall 1mribu Lot AP as “measuring about 25 fest each way"
and being adjacent to Lot #20. He cites Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 462.
See ﬂlll. 631.20 %

35. Strest Coumissioner‘'s Report.

56. Ibid.

$57. vThe Ratser Map,” published by Jeffrey and Faden, london, January 12,
. 1776, in New-York Historical Society and Museum of the City of New

York. This plan of N.Y.C. shows the public buildings, homes, astates,
strests, lanes, and roads in considerable detail; "The Masrschalck
Map,” published by G. Duyckineck, N.Y., 1735, cited by William Loring

Andrews, The wkgg The Battery and Castle Gardsn (Charles
Scribner's Sons, New York, 1901), IA.

58. Although "The Montressor Map®” shows & simple and imaccurate draw-
ing of City Hall, it does give us an idea of its relative position;
*The Grim Map,” drawn in 1813, depicts New York City in the years 1742
1744. This map o the “H” shape of City Rall, but it is far too
big and ocut of proportion for ite surroundings.

59. Street Commissionsr's Report.
60. Ibid.

61. Supra., pp. 12-14

62. Street Commissioner‘'s Report

63. Minutes 1784-1831, Vv, 369-70.
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64. Ibid., VI, 672.
65. 1bid., VII, 80-61, 122.

66. Minutes 1784-1831, VII, 80-81; Ons postponement was caused by the
proposed widsning of Nassau Strest, which required time to study the
quantity of land nseded. See Ibid., 101; Another postponement was due
to a bill pending in Congress aut sing the purchase of the ground
a9 & site for a custom house, a project which did not at the time
waterialise. Ses Ibid., 117, sud Stokes, Iconography, V, 1543.

67. Thie map, without a title, is in File #3537 (822 to 7617), in base-
ment under Room 100, Municipsl Building, N.Y.C.; See also copy of a
disgram annexed to Liber of Deeds (W.Y.C.) 101, p. 424, cited in
“Abstract,” following p. 39.

68. “A Map ohuilm the situation and quantity of Ground necessary to
be taken to widen and improve Eassau Strest between Wall and Cedar
Strasts with the names of the proprietors thereof, New York, 7th Jan.
1813, by Stepn Ludlam, City Surveyor,® File #36A (822 to 7618), in
basement under Room 100, Municipal Building, B.Y.C.; The second map,
much worn, is entitled the same g8 the first but dated Jamuary 9, 1813,
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69. Minutes 1784-1831, VII, 224, 337.
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71. Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 101, p. 424, cited in “Abstract,* 41.
72. Liber of Desds (N.Y.C.) 101, p. 375, cited in "Abstract,” 44.
73. Liber of Deeds {N.Y.C.) 101, p. 407, cited in "Abstract," 48.
7. Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 101, p. 413, cited in "Abstract,” 40.
73. Stokes, Iconography, V, 1558, 1368.
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86. Liber of Desds (N.Y.C.) 147, p. 186, cited in "Abstract,” 91.
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;:buuet." See Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 156, p. 136, cited in "Abstract,”
» 92. .

88. Liber of Desds {N.Y.C.) 207, p. 349, and Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.)
215, Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 215, p. 384, cited in “"Abstract,” 93-4;
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p. 213, Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.) 289, p. 280, and Liber of Deeds (N.Y.C.)
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Iconography, V, 1727, 1773; New York Evening Post, September 24, 1840,
c
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97. Blue-Print, U. S. Sub-Treasury Building, by Charles M. Mapes, Civil
Engineer & City Surveyor, 3rd Ave. & 148th St., N.Y.C., September 1912,
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Working Sheet on Sub-Treasury Survey, by Charles M. Mapes, Civil Engineer
& City Surveyor, 3rd Ave. & 148th §t., N.Y.C., September 1913, filed
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98. See Webster's New International Dictionary for definitions of
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99. MS., "Plan and Elevation of the Old City Hall formerly standing
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Iﬁ_mg;g?. I, Plate 70 and pp. 454-435; "Map of the City of New York

' Island of Manhattan as laid out by the Commissioners appointed by
the Legislature April 3d 1807 [The Bridges Map or Randsl Survey]"”
Adapted by William Bridges from the original survey by Jolm Randel, Jr.,
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113. I. N. Phelps Stokes and Daniel C. Haskell, American Historical
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117. In making this estimate, sccount has been taken of the fact that
Mapes®' blueprint of 1912 calculates the depth of the Sub-Treasury build-
ing from the "pilaster” on Pine Strest to the “pilaster” on Wall Street
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color drawing of Federal Hall in 1798 depicting part of the east
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concerning land titles on Wall Street.

Bill, Frederick Trevor, The Story of a Strest, Harper & Bros.,
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the history of land titles, it is, nevertheless, a very
valuable reference for any study of Federal Hall National
Memorial.
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